RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Nov 17, 2016, 12:24 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

Supreme Court No. 23840 - (Court of Appeals No. 72068-6-I)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

BRUCE ALLEN HUMMEL, Appellant.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

DAVID S. McEACHRAN,
Whatcom County Prosecuting Attorney
By KIMBERLY A. THULIN
Appellate Deputy Prosecutor
Attorney for Respondent
WSBA #21210 / ADMIN. #91075
Whatcom County Prosecutor's Office
311 Grand Avenue, Second Floor
Bellingham, WA 98225
(360) 778.5710

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Taking the evidence in the light most favorable to the State and drawing all inferences most strongly in favor of the non-moving party, whether *any* rational juror could find the evidence presented below supports the jury's conclusion Hummel murdered his wife Alice with premeditated intent.
- 2. Whether the jury's verdict on premeditated murder permits this Court to remand for imposition of judgment on the lesser degree offense of murder in the second degree because Hummel requested an all or nothing defense, the verdict necessarily encompasses all of the essential elements of murder in the second degree and the

record reflects Hummel fully and fairly litigated whether he murdered Alice, premeditated or not.

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In October of 1990, Bruce Hummel's wife, Alice Hummel, suspicious of sexual abuse, asked the youngest of Hummel's three children, S.K., if Hummel was sexually abusing her. RP 45. During an emotional discussion, twelve year old S.K. acknowledged Hummel had been sexually abusing her for years. RP 22, 42-45. Alice reassured S.K. she would take care of it, would take action, telling S.K. she would talk to Hummel. RP 71, 83.

S.K. had previously denied Hummel was molesting her because she feared a disclosure to Alice would cause more arguing or violence in the home. RP 45. When she finally disclosed, S.K. felt safe and protected and that Alice was home before and after school every day until she disappeared. RP 69-70. S.K.'s disclosure occurred within five days of her 13th birthday; a birthday wherein Alice and S.K. had special plans to see a Ballet performance at Western Washington University. RP 85, 433. Two days before S.K.'s special birthday event, S.K. came home from school and Alice was gone. RP 47. S.K. never saw Alice again and the sexual abuse with Hummel continued, though less frequently. RP 52. When Hummel returned alone later in the evening, he told S.K. and her older brother, S.H., Alice was at a motel and he would be driving her to

4

the airport to fly to California for a job interview the following day. RP 133, 47, 135, 136. Alice never mentioned a job interview, did not pack any suitcases and S.K. noticed her wallet, purse and medications were still at home when Hummel asked them to pack up Alice's belongings to send to her following Alice's disappearance. RP 134,48, 49, 50. Months later S.K. found the boxes she packed to allegedly be forwarded to her mom, hidden in the basement of the Hummel home. RP 50, 140.

According to all three of the Hummel children, Alice and Hummel had a volatile and argumentative relationship that sometimes resulted in Hummel physically abusing Alice. RP 119-121, 3637, 132, 506. Money was a constant source of dispute. RP 38, 131, 157. Alice had money and Hummel did not. RP 38. Alice had a computer business she ran out of her family home and collected monthly disability payments from the State of Alaska where, prior to becoming sick with Lupus, she worked as a teacher. RP 134. Hummel on the other hand, did odd jobs, including home repair for a local realtor and routinely driving to remote areas off logging roads in Whatcom County to collect cedar, pinecones and flowers to sell to make potpourri. RP 34.

When S.K. and S.H. returned home from school the day Alice disappeared, they noticed nothing amiss at home other than both Alice and Hummel were gone. RP 48, 73. At the time of Alice's disappearance, she rarely left the Hummel home, even to go shopping. RP 135. When

Hummel did return later that evening, he acted as though nothing were amiss and did not appear to suffer any injuries. RP 74. After Alice's unexpected disappearance, Hummel repeatedly told his children Alice wasn't a good mom, didn't want to be a part of their lives and had abandoned them for another man. RP 52. Hummel would get mad and agitated when any of the Hummel children asked about their mom after her disappearance. RP 76. Hummel also became very guarded over the mail; not allowing S.K. or S.H. to get the mail and continued to abuse S.K. RP 52, 56.

Despite Alice's illness, she did continue to work from home on computer related matters. Alice enjoyed a reputation of being reliable and timely with work projects. RP 299, 300. When she vanished, Alice was in the middle of a computer job for client, Alton Wayne Terry, a former Seattle Police detective. Despite his best efforts, Terry never retrieved his computer disks or found any trace of Alice after she vanished. RP 301, 302.

In 2003, after S.K. and her oldest sister, S.C. discussed Alice's disappearance; they filed a missing person's report.³ RP 107. While searching for Alice, investigators discovered and later confirmed, Hummel had been stealing Alice's monthly disability payments from the State of

³ Hummel on the other hand, never filed a missing person's report. RP 211.

Alaska. Hummel began holding himself out as Alice and stealing Alice's money immediately following her disappearance. RP 204-206. Hummel initially denied stealing her disability payments but when confronted with evidence, eventually admitted he had been stealing Alice's money for the good of his children. RP 204-206. Hummel also admitted molesting S.K. and acknowledged that if Alice knew about the sexual abuse, he was confident she would have confronted him. RP 214-15. Hummel nonetheless still maintained Alice had voluntarily abandoned him and their children. State v. Freidrich, 4 Wash. 204, 29 P. 1055 (1892)

Hummel subsequently sent a letter to Bellingham police department Detective Gitts apologizing for the "smoke screen" he threw at them when they confronted him about stealing Alice's disability payments, stating "but what else would you expect when it's the same story I have been telling you for thirteen years. ..." RP 221. Hummel then confirmed Alice was dead, had died on October 18th 1990 but claimed she died of suicide and he covered it up. RP 221. In this letter, Hummel claimed he came home around noon on that Friday and found Alice dead on the upstairs bathroom floor with a large gash across her left wrist. According to Hummel there was a lot of blood in and around the toilet, splatters of blood on the vanity and a note saying "don't tell the kids."

Hummel claimed he wrapped Alice up in plastic sheeting, drug her through the house and lifted her into his Ford Van despite that Alice

weighed over 200 lbs. Hummel asserted he then cleaned the bathroom and went to the store to get a replacement rug for the bathroom before S.H. got home from high school. Hummel further wrote that later that evening, in the middle of the night, he put together a homemade makeshift inflatable raft, drove to the waterfront, rowed Alice's body out in the middle of Bellingham Bay, tied a rock between Alice's feet in the plastic sheeting and then dumped her body into the water. RP 221. Hummel claimed, due to the wind conditions that night, he barely managed to row Alice's body out and get back in. State v. Freidrich, 4 Wash. 204, 29 P. 1055 (1892)

Contrary to Hummel's story, Bellingham Bay was not windy that evening but calm and light. RP 360-365. Moreover, expert witness Dr.Hayes testified based on scientifically approved biomechanical theory, a man of Hummel's size could not have moved Alice's dead body, specifically *lifted* it into the back of Hummel's van as he described without suffering injury to his back. RP 483, 488, 492. Dr.Hayes noted the maneuver would only be made more difficult if she were in plastic wrap. RP 488, 492, 497-98, 492. Hummel did not suffer any apparent injury when Alice disappeared and reportedly never complained of back problems. RP 26. Forensic analysis in and around the Hummel home also did not reveal any evidence to suggest Alice bled out, died or was buried there. RP 182- 185, 229, 324, 241. The medical examiner, Dr. Goldfogel also testified based on his expertise and experience, it was unlikely a

horizontal gash to a wrist as described by Hummel could result in a successful suicide. For success, deep vertical cuts to the wrist are required. RP 396. Also, if Alice had bled out in the manner described by Hummel, she would have lost over two quarts of blood. RP 334, 338, 392-95, Pla. Exhibit 12. Yet, no trace of blood as would be expected even years later, was detected. RP 229, 324, 241, 242. Finally, Dr.Goldfogel explained that if Alice had been dumped in Bellingham Bay as described, the gases in her decomposing body would have caused her body to rise up to the surface of the water in some manner or another where it would be discovered. RP 390. A body on the other hand, dumped off a remote logging road, Dr.Goldfogel explained would be much more difficult to discover because decomposition necessarily occurs faster in these circumstances. RP 391.

After eluding authorities, Hummel was finally arrested in 2007. When pressed by investigators Hummel told them he had "told you the story. I'm not going to change it." RP 241. When detectives gave Hummel the opportunity to make things right for his family, he teared up, lowered his head but then regained his composure and looked at detectives and said, "I don't care. They don't care about me. I don't care about them." RP 241.

⁴ When Hummel petitioned for divorce twice, he listed Alice's last known address as 2050 forest road and 602 Forest Road, Dallas TX respectively. RP 316, 243

Hummel plead guilty to twelve counts of federal wire fraud for unlawfully stealing Alice's disability payments from November 1990 until February 2004. RP 242. In his guilty plea statement, Hummel admitted Alice died on October 18th 1990, the day he told his children she voluntarily abandoned them, that he falsely represented himself to be Alice and forged her name to maintain the fiction Alice was still alive in order to collect her benefits. RP 242, Plaintiff exhibit 6.

E. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

Appellate courts must respect a jury verdict unless no reasonable trier of fact could find the essential elements beyond a reasonable doubt based on direct and circumstantial evidence in the entire record and the reasonable inferences derived therefrom. Although appellate court must review verdicts to determine if they meet minimum constitutional standards, sufficiency review requires that courts respect the wisdom and collective judgments experience jurors, (perhaps especially) in close cases. The public has a substantial interest in ensuring that a sufficiency review does not improperly encroach on the jury's function.

Review is warranted in this case under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4) because the Court of Appeals erroneously weighed evidence and construed the evidence to draw its own inferences against the State. The

Court of Appeal's decision also conflicts with Washington's long standing principles that motive and the circumstances surrounding a murder, including after, may be relied on by jurors to infer premeditation and that direct evidence of planning or the method of the killing itself is not required to support such a finding. Additionally, review is warranted as to the appropriate remedy in this case. Where the jury verdict necessarily encompassed all of the essential elements of murder in the second degree and Hummel cannot assert prejudice because he fully litigated below whether he murdered Alice, In re Heidari does not compel that a proven murderer walk free.

1. The public has a substantial interest in ensuring jury verdicts are upheld where the evidence examined in the light most favorable to the State supports the verdict notwithstanding whether reasonable minds may draw a different conclusion.

Washington courts apply the federal constitutional standard in reviewing the evidentiary sufficiency of a criminal conviction in determining "whether, after viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to the State, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992), State v. Joy, 121 Wn.2d 333, 338, 851 P.2d 654 (1993). Under this analysis, the "only question ... is whether [the jury's] finding was so insupportable as to fall below the

threshold of bare rationality." <u>Coleman v. Johnson</u>, 132 S. Ct. 2060, 2064, 182 L. Ed. 2d 978 (2012); *see also*, <u>Musacchio v. United States</u>, 136 S. Ct. 709, 715, 193 L. Ed. 2d 639 (2016) ("Sufficiency review essentially addresses whether 'the government's case was so lacking that it should not have even been submitted to the jury.")

The appellate court's limited review "does not intrude on the jury's role 'to resolve conflicts in the testimony, to weigh the evidence, and to draw reasonable inferences from basic facts to ultimate facts."" Musacchio, 136 S. Ct. at 715; State v. Carver, 113 Wn.2d 591, 604, 781 P.2d 1308, 789 P.2d 306 (1989). Moreover, "all reasonable inferences from the evidence must be drawn in favor of the State and interpreted most strongly against the defendant" in assessing the sufficiency of the evidence as to each element of the crime. Joy, 121 Wn. 2d at 339. "The jury is permitted to infer from one fact the existence of another essential to guilt, if reason and experience support the inference." State v. Bencivenga, 137 Wn.2d 703, 707, 974 P.2d 832 (1999) (quoting State v. Jackson, 112 Wn.2d 867, 875, 774 P.2d 1211 (1989)). A jury has broad discretion to decide what inferences to draw from the evidence presented at trial. Coleman, 132 S. Ct. at 2064. A sufficiency of the evidence review is a deferential standard: appellate courts are not to engage in a "fine-grained factual parsing." Coleman, 132 S. Ct. at 2064.

A review for the sufficiency of the evidence requires an appellate court not second guess how the jury resolved conflicts, made inferences, or considered evidence at trial and "must presume-even if it does not affirmatively appear in the record-that the trier of fact resolved any such conflicts in favor of the prosecution and must defer to that resolution."

Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 319, 99 S. Ct. 2781, 61 L. Ed. 2d 560 (1979).

The Court of Appeals erroneously compared and contrasted the evidence presented in Hummel's first and second trial, reviewed arguments and ultimately, substituted its judgement for that of twelve jurors in reversing Hummel's conviction. First, the Court of Appeals complained that the State did not present uncorroborated testimony of a jailhouse informant who testified in the first trial, in the second trial. Twelve jurors nonetheless, concluded Hummel murdered Alice with premeditated intent without this testimony. The scope of a sufficiency analysis is limited to examining all of the evidence presented below in the light most favorable to the non-moving party, not comparing or contrasting separate trials.

⁵ Hummel argued in the appeal following his first trial, he was denied a fair trial because the trial court failed to caution the jury of the inherent untrustworthiness of the jailhouse informants uncorroborated testimony.

Moreover, a reviewing court may not substitute its judgment for the reasonable judgment of twelve jurors. Reasonable minds may draw different conclusions when presented with substantial evidence, some of which may be conflicting. State v. Reynolds, 51 Wn.2d 830, 322 P.2d 356 (1958). Here, twelve jurors unanimously agreed Hummel killed Alice with premeditated intent after considering all of the evidence and applying accurate jury instruction detailing the essential elements the State was required to prove, including premeditation, beyond a reasonable doubt, to obtain a guilty verdict. See, Appendix B, attached and incorporated herein. Jurors are presumed to follow the instructions. State v. Lamar, 180 Wn.2d 576, 327 P.3d 46 (2014). Moreover, the instructions given carry more weight than the arguments presented below. United States v. Begay, 673 F.3d 1038 (9th Cir. 2011).

a. The Court of Appeals erroneously drew its own inferences and substituted its own judgement for the jury.

Under a sufficiency standard of review, the Court of Appeals should have considered how a reasonable juror *could* have viewed Dr.Hayes' expert testimony in a manner that supports the jury verdict. Dr.Hayes' testimony, when viewed in the light most favorable to the verdict, in conjunction with other expert, forensic and witness testimony, permitted jurors to draw the reasonable inference that Alice was not

murdered in her home because Hummel could not have lifted her if she was already deceased, whether wrapped in plastic or not, into his van without sustaining a back injury. 6 A reasonable juror could rely on this conclusion, knowing Alice rarely left her home and was motivated to stay home to protect S.K. at the time of her disappearance, to reasonably infer Alice was not murdered at home. Additionally, the fact that Alice's murder was concealed and that Hummel engaged in elaborate cover-up after her murder than enabled him to continue molesting S.K. and steal Alice's disability payments reasonably suggests the murder was in an isolated or private location that required a certain degree of planning to effectively execute. Killing a victim in an isolated location or manner supports an inference of premeditation. State v. Giffing, 45 Wn. App. 369, 725 P.2d 445 (1986), see also, State v. Luoma, 88 Wn.2d 28, 33, 558 P.2d 756 (1977), State v. Lanning, 5 Wn. App. 426, 438, 487 P.2d 785 (1971). The Court of Appeals decision reflects the court erroneously weighed the credibility of Dr. Hayes' testimony and drew its own inferences. This constitutes error. See, Slip. Op. at 13.

Oddly, the Court of Appeals decision also asserts the testimony of certified American sailing association expert Tim Ferguson supports the

⁶ The court of appeals misconstrued Dr. Hayes testimony below. Dr. Hayes testified trying to remove and lift Alice into the van if she were wrapped in a plastic, would have made the task more difficult, not less, than the different lifting scenarios he analyzed. RP 492.

Hummel from rowing a five-man inflatable raft into Bellingham Bay to dump Alice's body in the middle of the night. Slip. Op. at 14. Again, if a reviewing court were viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to Hummel, a juror could have reached this conclusion. Under the appropriate scrutiny of review however, Ferguson's testimony, when reviewed in context, demonstrates one more reason Hummel's suicide story was not credible because contrary to Hummel's assertion that Bellingham Bay was windy and he could barely row Alice' body out to dump her in the middle of the bay, the bay was in fact calm with no more than a light breeze.

It was well within the province of the jury to draw reasonable inferences from Ferguson's and Dr. Hayes' testimony in conjunction with the testimony of Dr. Goldfogel, other witness' and the forensic evidence to conclude Hummel murdered his wife with premeditated intent. By mischaracterizing Ferguson's testimony, drawing their own inferences from Dr.Hayes' testimony and failing to examine how all of the evidence fits with the circumstances surrounding Alice's murder to determine if the evidence supports the *jury's verdict* rather than Hummel's claims, the Court of Appeals erred.

b. The State was not required to present direct evidence of the method or planning to support the jury's finding of premeditation.

In addition to drawing its own inferences from the evidence and substituting its judgment for that of twelve jurors, the Court of Appeals also erred as a matter of law by concluding a reasonable juror could not find Hummel had motive to kill Alice or that Alice's murder was premeditated without direct evidence presented below detailing the planning, method or manner of the murder. Slip. Op. at 27.

Premeditation is "the deliberate formation of and reflection upon the intent to take a human life and involves the mental process of thinking beforehand; deliberation, reflection, weighing and reasoning for a period of time, however short."

State v. Pirtle, 127 Wn.2d 628, 644, 904 P.2d 245 (1995), RCW 9A.32.120(1), State v. Ollens, 107 Wn.2d 848, 733 P.2d 984 (1987). Intent is rarely proven by direct evidence. Consequently, premeditation is often inferred from all of the circumstances surrounding the murder. Giffing, 45 Wn. App. 369. Circumstantial evidence supports such a finding where the inferences drawn by the jury are reasonable and the evidence supporting the finding, substantial. State v. Finch, 137 Wn.2d

⁷ The jury was instructed: Premeditated means thought over beforehand. When a person, after any deliberation, forms an intent to take human life, the killing may follow immediately after the formation of the settled purpose and it will still be premeditated. Premeditation must involve more than a moment in which a design to kill is deliberately formed. CP 227 -246, 11 Wash. Prac., Pattern Jury Instr. Crim. WPIC 26.01.01 (4th Ed).

792, 831, 975 P.2d 967 (1999). Circumstantial evidence is not considered any more or less reliable than direct evidence. State v. Cross, 156 Wn. App. 568, 581, 234 P.3d 288 (2010), as amended (July 1, 2010), review granted, cause remanded, 172 Wn.2d 1009, 260 P.3d 208 (2011).

While opportunity alone is insufficient to support the element of premeditation, *motive*, procurement of a weapon, *stealth* and the *manner of killing* are all important facts that can support this inference. State v.

Gentry, 125 Wn.2d 570, 597, 888 P.2d 1105 (1995), aff'd sub nom. Gentry v. Sinclair, 693 F.3d 867 (9th Cir. 2012), and aff'd sub nom. Gentry v.

Sinclair, 705 F.3d 884 (9th Cir. 2013), *quoting*, State v. Ortiz, 119 Wn.2d 294, 831 P.2d 1060 (1992)(*emphasis added*). Motive is well recognized in murder cases as evidence reflecting intent, premeditation or purpose.

State v. Ross, 56 Wn.2d 344, 349, 353 P.2d 885 (1960). Moreover, "a person can form a premediated design to effect the death of another for the purpose of better enabling him to rob the person or premises of that other."

State v. Condon, 182 Wn.2d 307, 343 P.3d 357 (2015), *relying on the analysis set forth in* State v. Miller, 164 Wash. 441, 2 P.2d 738 (1931).

Ultimately, a finding of premeditation is within the province of the jury to determine.

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