RECEIVED VIA PORTAL

Supreme Court No. 93840-7 (COA No. 72068-6-I)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

v.

BRUCE HUMMEL,

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR WHATCOM COUNTY

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

NANCY P. COLLINS Attorney for Respondent

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

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

E. ARGUMENT.

The Court of Appeals relied on settled law and established principles to conclude the State presented insufficient evidence that Mr. Hummel committed the charged offense

1. It is well-settled that the State bears the burden of proving the essential elements of a charged offense

The State must prove the essential elements of a crime beyond a reasonable doubt. *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970); U.S. Const. amend. 14; Const. art. I, § 3. Proof

beyond a reasonable doubt of all essential elements is an "indispensable" threshold of evidence that the State must establish to garner a conviction. *Winship*, 397 U.S. at 364.

In order to enforce the prosecution's burden of proof, a court reviewing the sufficiency of evidence may not simply assume that a properly instructed jury will reach the correct result as long as there is some evidence in the record that supports a conviction. *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 319, 99 S. Ct. 2781, 61 L. Ed. 2d 560 (1979); *State v. Green*, 94 Wn.2d 216, 221-22, 616 P.2d 628 (1980).

Under the test mandated by *Jackson*, reasonable inferences from the evidence are construed in favor of the prosecution but a case may not rest on speculation or conjecture. *United States v. Nevils*, 598 F.3d 1158, 1167 (9th Cir. 2010). As this Court recently explained in *State v. Vasquez*, 178 Wn.2d 1, 16, 309 P.3d 318 (2013), "inferences based on circumstantial evidence must be reasonable and cannot be based on speculation."

The prosecution desires a different standard of review that would require courts to defend the jury's verdict simply because the jury reached it. State's Petition at 14. But the Court of Appeals properly

applied this established law when evaluating the sufficiency of the State's evidence to prove premeditated murder.

2. The State's evidence was based on pyramiding speculative inferences.

To prove premeditated murder, the State must establish the "deliberate formation of and reflection upon the intent to take a human life." *State v. Hoffman*, 116 Wn.2d 51, 82, 804 P.2d 577 (1991). Although it requires proof of the perpetrator's "mental process" such as deliberation, weighing and reasoning before acting, it may be inferred from the perpetrator's actions, such as obtaining and bringing a weapon and taking a victim to an isolated area. *Id*.

Unlike the cases the prosecution musters in its request for discretionary review, there is no evidence of when, how, or where Ms. Hummel died, no evidence of planning, and no reasonable basis to infer she was killed in a premeditated fashion. This critical distinction undermines the case law the State offers as the basis for seeking review.

In *State v. Giffing*, 45 Wn.App. 369, 370, 375, 725 P.2d 445 (1986), the victim was killed by a single deep stab wound, inflicted from behind by a sharp knife, in an isolated location, and just before she died she told a passerby that the defendant did it. In *State v. Luoma*,

88 Wn.2d 28, 558 P.2d 756 (1977), the five-year-old victim was killed after she was taken down the steep bank of a culvert and beaten with a large rock at the scene; the defendant was responsible for her care, was seen fleeing the scene, and gave inconsistent explanations. In *State v. Lanning*, 5 Wn.App. 426, 487 P.2d 785 (1971), the victim was found dead from a severely lacerated throat on an isolated logging road, with no evidence of a struggle, and her boyfriend, the defendant, was found nearby with human blood on his clothes.

These cases do not establish that any killing in an isolated location is premeditated. And there is no evidence Ms. Hummel was killed in an isolated place. Her body has never been found. The circumstances of her death are wholly unknown.

The State turns on its head the absence of evidence showing how or when Mr. Hummel was the perpetrator to instead claim he must have acted premeditatedly. If the lack of evidence implicating Mr. Hummel is not outright exculpatory, it is patently equivocal and may not be the core evidence against him. *See Vasquez*, 178 Wn.2d at 7 (intent "may not be inferred from conduct that is 'patently equivocal'").

In its petition for review, the State also denounces the Court of Appeals for failing to properly defer to testimony by its expert witnesses. State's Petition at 14-16. But the State gives muddled, obtuse descriptions of testimony from these witnesses. Their testimony focused on discrediting the story Mr. Hummel gave in 2004 about Ms. Hummel's suicide. None of these witnesses explained how, when, or where Ms. Hummel died. Taking their testimony as true, they showed Ms. Hummel did not die as described in the letter written many years after she left the family home. They did not show Mr. Hummel killed his wife by intentional, deliberate and premeditated acts.

The only case the State cites that appears remotely like Mr. Hummel's is *State v. Thompson*, 73 Wn.App. 654, 870 P.2d 1022 (1994), where the manner of killing is not clear because the body was never located. The defendant did not challenge premeditation, but claimed a lack of evidence connecting him to the crime. *Id.* at 665.

The evidence in *Thompson* was far less speculative. He confessed to kidnapping the victim, holding her until he was sure she gave him the right password for her ATM card, then killing her and disposing of her body in a way that would make her impossible to find. *Id.* at 663. Police found her property, including her checkbook and car key, in the defendant's apartment and they did not know each other beforehand. *Id.* at 657, 665. Multiple bank cameras showed him making

daily withdraws from her bank account after she disappeared. *Id.* at 657. Her car had blood stains and Thompson's fingerprints inside it. *Id.* Taken together, this evidence sufficiently showed his connection to the crime. *Id.* at 665-66.

The State's case against Mr. Hummel lacks this degree of inculpatory evidence. The State had no evidence of blood stains in his car or elsewhere; it did not offer a detailed admission by the defendant; and because they were married with children in common, his possession of her property was equivocal. Unlike the victim in *Thompson* whose disappearance was promptly noticed and reported, Ms. Hummel's disappearance was not reported for 11 years, undercutting the State's claim that her deviation from habit could only be evidence of foul play. And suspicion of foul play does not provide the modicum of evidence needed to tip the scales one way or another. She could have disappeared from reckless or negligent behavior or a combative argument, as readily as anything else.

Having taken on the burden of proving premeditated, deliberate acts caused her murder, the State was obligated to produce some evidence of steps taken through the manner or method of killing or in its planning. Every other case the State cites had such evidence, as the

Court of Appeals noted. Slip op. at 23-28 & n.13. The Court of Appeals correctly found there was insufficient evidence to prove premeditation, and that finding does not merit further review.

3. The State misrepresents its decision to pursue an all-ornothing strategy.

Either party may offer instructions on lesser included offenses. *State v. Berlin*, 133 Wn.2d 541, 548, 947 P.2d 700 (1997) ("A lesser included instruction is available to both the prosecution and the defense"); *State v. Tamalini*, 134 Wn.2d 725, 728, 953 P.2d 450 (1998) ("Either the defense or the prosecution is entitled to request a lesser included offense instruction"); *see also State v. Porter*, 150 Wn.2d 732, 736, 82 P.3d 234 (2004) ("the lesser included offense doctrine entitles the prosecution or the defendant to a jury instruction on a crime other than the one charged" if properly requested based on facts and law).

In its petition for review, the State incorrectly asserts that the State had no role in the "all or nothing" strategy of only presenting the charge premeditated murder to the jury, without any lesser included offenses. State's Petition at 26. The prosecution proposed instructions, as it must under CrR 6.15, and it did not ask for any lesser included offenses. 4RP 541 (prosecution tells court it has all of its instructions);

4RP 550-51 (court explaining procedure for addressing each instruction proposed by State); 4RP 551-56 (court lists and discusses each instruction proposed by State).

After the court addressed each of the State's proposed instructions one by one, the court turned to the defense instructions, beginning with lesser included offenses sought by the defense. 4RP 557.

Mr. Hummel initially proposed an instruction on second degree murder, but his request was contingent on the court also instructing the jury on the lesser offenses of first and second degree manslaughter. 4RP 469, 557, 559-61. The prosecutor objected to the defense proposed instructions for manslaughter. 4RP 557-58. The court ruled there was an insufficient factual basis for manslaughter instructions. 4RP 561.

When the court ruled there was no legal basis for manslaughter instructions, Mr. Hummel withdrew his request for lesser offense instructions. *Id.* The defense stated they did not "accept the State's version of just the murder I," but would not seek second degree murder when the State was not asking for it and the court would not give manslaughter lesser offense instructions. *Id.*

The State's petition for review portrays this in-court discussion as a defense request for an all-or-nothing strategy. State's Petition at 26. But the defense was responding to the instructions the State submitted that were "just the murder I." 4RP 561. It was because the State opted only for a first degree murder theory, without asking the jury to consider any lesser degrees, that the defense weighed whether it wanted to propose additional offenses for the jury to consider. The defense did not preclude or even encourage the prosecution to decline to offer the jury less serious offenses to consider.

The State uses its misrepresentation of the record as the platform for distinguishing *In re Pers. Restraint of Heidari*, 174 Wn.2d 288, 294, 274 P.3d 366 (2012), *Green*, 94 Wn.2d at 234, and related precedent. *Heidari* affirmed the principle that "remand for simple resentencing on a 'lesser included offense' . . . is only permissible when the jury has been explicitly instructed thereon." *Id.* at 292 (quoting *Green*, 92 Wn.2d at 234).

The State's petition claims that because Mr. Hummel asked for all-or-nothing instructions, the jury's and reviewing court's inability to

³ Similarly, at the prior trial for the same offense, the defense was the party requesting second degree murder as a lesser offense. *See* 8/19/09RP 696,

consider lesser offenses are not its fault. The record belies the State's assessing of blame. The prosecution proposed instructions, could have sought lesser offense instructions, but instead asked for "just the murder I." 4RP 541, 551-56, 561.

In *Heidari*, this Court affirmed the State's obligation to seek lesser included offense instructions when it wants to avoid dismissal in the event it does not have proof of the greater offense. "[T]he State can easily avoid the force of *Green* by requesting a lesser included offense instruction at trial." 174 Wn.2d at 294. *Heidari* was decided in April 2012, two years before Mr. Hummel's May 2014 trial. The State was on notice of its obligations.

Heidari reflects longstanding precedent, which the State's petition ignores. 174 Wn.2d at 292-94; see, e.g., State v. Harris, 121 Wn.2d 317, 320, 849 P.2d 1216 (1993) ("To find the accused guilty of a lesser included offense, the jury must, of course, be instructed on its elements."). The State tries to portray Heidari as an anomaly by repeatedly citing and misrepresenting State v. Friedrich, 4 Wash. 224, 29 P. 1055 (1892). In Friedrich, this Court found abundant evidence the defendant was responsible for killing the victim but insufficient

704-05.

evidence it was premediated as required for first degree murder. *Id.* at 222-25. It ordered the judge to enter a second degree murder conviction. *Id.* at 222, 224-25 (citing former § 1429 Hill's Code).

The State assumes this remedy occurred without the jury having received an instruction on second degree murder, but the history of the case reveals the jury would have been so instructed. This *Friedrich* opinion followed a retrial ordered due to instructional errors. *Friedrich v. Terr.*, 2 Wash. 358, 369, 26 P. 976 (1891). In *Friedrich I*, the Court chastised the judge for failing to tell jurors "they could return a verdict of murder in the second degree only." *Id. Friedrich II* praised the judge for fairly instructing the jury and discussed the jury's difficulty distinguishing "between murder of the first and second degrees," demonstrating the judge followed the remand instructions to charge the jury with both offenses. 4 Wash. at 213. The *Friedrich II* Court's determination that first degree murder was insufficiently proved but a second degree murder conviction could be sustained was consistent with *Heidari*.

The State does not show how *Heidari* is wrong or harmful. The jury's role is to decide the degree of offense committed. RCW 10.61.010 ("the jury shall find" and "shall in their verdict specify the

degree or attempt of which the defendant is guilty."). Where a lesser offense is not presented to the jury for consideration, the defendant never defends against that charge and may forgo strategies, evidence, and arguments relevant to the charge.

Under the State's theory, the reviewing court would sit in judgment as a 13th juror and weigh how it would have voted on an uncharged lesser offense, but this notion is contrary to settled law. *See State v. Williams*, 96 Wn.2d 215, 221-22, 634 P.2d 868 (1981) (judge "is not deemed a 'thirteenth juror'" but rather "[i]t is the province of the jury to weigh the evidence, under proper instructions, and determine the facts). This theory disregards the inviolate right to trial by jury expressly guaranteed in Washington by directing the court to impose punishment based on an offense the jury never considered or legal requirements it did not weigh. *See State v. Williams-Walker*, 167 Wn.2d 889, 899-900, 225 P.3d 913 (2010); Const. art. I, §§ 21, 22.

The State's desire to have this Court overrule its recent decision in *Heidari* should be rejected. There is no substantial public interest in granting review, as demonstrated by the obscure, factually distinguishable cases the State relies upon. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(iv).

As *Heidari* recognized, the State may seek lesser included

offense instructions to avoid the consequence of dismissal when it fails

to prove the most serious offense charged. This Court should reject the

State's efforts to dilute the requirements that it prove the essential

elements to the jury following fair notice to the accused and fair

argument to the jury.

Finally, there are remaining unresolved issues raised on appeal.

See Opening Brief at 18-36. These issues also require reversal of Mr.

Hummel's conviction for independent reasons the Court of Appeals did

not reach. Further appellate proceedings would be required if the Court

of Appeals ruling is modified on review.

F. <u>CONCLUSION</u>.

Respondent Bruce Hummel respectfully requests that the Court

deny review.

DATED this 15th day of December 2016.

Respectfully submitted,

NANCY P. COLLINS (WSBA 28806)

Washington Appellate Project (91052)

Attorneys for Respondent

18